THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

APPEAL FROM RICHLAND COUNTY
Court of General Sessions

The Honorable Robert E. Hood, Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No. 2013-001680

Marcus Bailey,.....Appellant,

v.

The State of South Carolina,.....Respondent.

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

Stanley L. Myers
S. Jahue Moore
M. Brooks Biediger
Moore Taylor Law Firm, P.A.
1700 Sunset Boulevard
P.O. Box 5709
West Columbia, South Carolina 29171
Tel.: (803) 796-9160
Fax: (803) 791-8410

Attorneys for Appellant.

RECEIVED

FEB 23 2015

SC Court of Appeals

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

- I. Whether the trial court abused its discretion in admitting the testimony of the cadaver dog handler when there was no evidence to corroborate the dog's alerts, the handler was not an expert, and the probative value of the testimony was outweighed by the danger of undue prejudice?
- II. Whether the trial court abused its discretion in failing to direct a verdict in favor of the Appellant when there is no evidence of homicide to support the medical examiner's conclusions?
- III. Whether the trial court abused its discretion in admitting the testimony of inmate Edward Walker and not permitting defense counsel to cross-examine him fully on his pending crimes?
- IV. Whether the trial court abused its discretion in admitting character evidence of the Appellant when defense counsel did not open the door to evidence of a pertinent character trait?
- V. Whether the trial court abused its discretion in refusing to suppress or strike evidence gathered pursuant to a search warrant based upon an affidavit of an officer with no personal knowledge of the facts attested?
- VI. Whether the trial court abused its discretion in admitting the statement of the Appellant when the Appellant was not provided a copy of the statement in violation of S.C. Code sections 19-1-90 and 8-15-50?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On August 23, 2012, the Appellant Marcus Bailey was arrested and charged with the murder of Almanita Smith (the “decedent”).

On October 11, 2012, the Richland County Grand Jury returned an indictment for the charge of murder against Mr. Bailey. On July 15, 2013, counsel for Mr. Bailey moved to quash the indictment on the basis it was overly vague pursuant to S.C. Code § 17-19-20.

The Richland County Solicitor’s Office called the case for a jury trial beginning July 22, 2013 before the Honorable Robert E. Hood in the Richland County Court of General Sessions. Appellant was represented by Stanley L. Myers, S. Jahue Moore, and M. Brooks Biediger with the Moore Taylor Law Firm, P.A. The State was represented by Kathryn Cavanaugh, Kathryn Luck Campbell, and Nicole Simpson with the Fifth Circuit Solicitor’s Office.

A number of pre-trial motions were heard the afternoon of July 22 and the morning of July 23. These motions included: (1) a motion to suppress the testimony of the cadaver dog handler; (2) a motion to quash the indictment; (3) a motion to suppress testimony which may violate defendant’s Sixth Amendment rights; (4) a motion to suppress references to decedent as a victim; (5) a motion to suppress statements of the decedent; (6) a motion to suppress impermissible character evidence; and (7) a motion to suppress evidence for failure to disclose pursuant to Rule 5, S.C.R.Crim.P., and Brady v. Maryland.

The Court denied these motions and the case proceeded for a jury trial. On July 31, 2013, the jury returned a verdict of guilty against Mr. Bailey. Judge Hood sentenced Mr. Bailey to 50 years in jail.

Mr. Bailey respectfully requests this Court overturn Mr. Bailey's conviction and sentence, and remand the matter for a new trial.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

On the morning of August 23, 2012, the body of Almanita Smith (the “decedent”) was discovered in the front yard of her home in Northeast Columbia. The decedent’s live-in boyfriend, Appellant Marcus Bailey, was asleep inside the house when the body was discovered.

The decedent’s house is located in a cul-de-sac in a newer neighborhood in Northeast Columbia. (R. p. 243). The decedent’s body lay in her front yard. The decedent was laying face down in the middle of her yard. (R. p. 176). Her body was naked from the waist down. (R. p. 244).

The first person to discover the body was Crystal Bailey (no relation to the Appellant). Crystal discovered the body at approximately 6:30 a.m. Another neighbor, James Postell, was quickly on the scene. Crystal called 9-1-1. (R. p. 178).

Mr. Bailey came out of the house. When he saw the body, he exclaimed “that is my girlfriend.” (R. p. 210). He was mumbling and very emotional. (R. p. 191). He held the decedent’s body up to his chest and began rocking her. He began patting her head. (R. p. 210). He was too emotional to talk. (R. p. 191). It did not appear Mr. Bailey was expecting to see what he saw. (R. p. 193). He appeared concerned about the decedent. (R. p. 223). After a few moments, Mr. Bailey went back into the house and found a dark blanket to cover the decedent. He came back out of the house and laid the blanket over the decedent. (R. p. 182).

The first responder to the scene was the Richland County Sheriff’s Department. (R. p. 367). Law enforcement officers began arriving at the residence at approximately 7:00 a.m. The scene was taped off and a crime scene log was started (R. p. 242).

Investigator Lee with the Richland County Sheriff's Department began photographing the incident location (R. p. 246). There was a strong odor of decomposition coming from the body. (R. p. 247). One of the photographs shows Investigator Lee's foot within inches of the decedent's body. (R. p. 320).

Investigator Martin arrived at the incident location. He called Investigator Mauldin and asked him to obtain a search warrant for the house. (R. p. 496). At the time, Investigator Mauldin was taking his child to day care. (R. p. 495). Once he dropped his child off, Investigator Mauldin went to the magistrate's office and swore out a search warrant on the residence. (R. p. 496). Investigator Mauldin had not been to the incident location when he swore to the warrant and had no personal knowledge of the information he swore to.

Once Investigator Mauldin arrived with the search warrant, law enforcement entered the residence to take photographs and collect evidence. Investigator Lee, who had just recently been standing directly over the decedent's body taking photographs, entered the house to take more photographs. He did not wear any booties or protective clothing to prevent contamination between the decedent's body and the house. (R. p. 321). None of the other investigators at the incident location wore any type of protective clothing. (R. p. 433).

The crime scene lab with the Richland County Sheriff's Department is internationally accredited. (R. p. 346). It is the only crime lab in South Carolina with this type of accreditation. (Tr. 786). Despite this high level of sophistication in crime scene analysis, the investigators found no evidence a dead body was ever inside the house. One investigator noted there were no unusual cleaning solutions or instruments found inside

the house. (R. p. 331). There were no drag marks from the residence to the body. (R. p. 334). There was no decomposition transfer marks on the stairwell or on the edges on the front door. (R. p. 344). There was no evidence of blood inside the house. (R. p. 348). Investigators used an advanced Bluestar blood detection system, but no blood was ever found. (R. p. 347). There was no trace evidence of Mr. Bailey's DNA under the decedent's nails. (R. p. 349). The crime scene investigators thoroughly searched the residence. There was no blood, feces, urine, or any other organic material that came from the decedent's body found inside the residence. (R. p. 424). At one point, the carpet was pulled up to test for any signs of decomposition. (R. p. 357). No evidence of decomposition was found. (R. p. 357).

Shortly after discovering the decedent's body, Mr. Bailey began having a panic attack and required medical attention. (R. p. 210). When EMS arrived on the scene, he was transported to Providence Northeast Hospital. (R. p. 368).

At Providence Northeast, Mr. Bailey was diagnosed with an acute stress reaction. (R. p. 454). Mr. Bailey was provided with the medication Vistaril. (R. p. 449). Vistaril is a prescription medication. (R. p. 458).

Investigators from the Richland County Sheriff's Department began questioning Mr. Bailey at the hospital. (R. p. 989). The investigators had Mr. Bailey sign an advisement of rights form. (R. p. 991). Mr. Bailey gave the investigators a DNA sample. (R. p. 994). Mr. Bailey also allowed investigators to take a gunshot residue kit. (R. p. 997). He also allowed them to scrape underneath his fingernails. (R. p. 998).

Upon his discharge from the hospital, Mr. Bailey was taken to the Richland County Sheriff's Department to be interrogated. (R. p. 1009). He gave a written

statement regarding his interaction with the decedent in the days before her body was discovered. (R. p. 1010). At the bottom of the statement form, there is a signature block to confirm a copy of the statement was given to the defendant. (R. p. 1012). Investigators did not provide Mr. Bailey with a copy of his statement at the time it was made. (R. p. 14). They do not know why they did not give him a copy. (R. p. 13). Investigator Clarke recalled going to the copy machine, which was functioning, but does not recall making a copy or having Mr. Bailey sign off on receiving a copy. (R. p. 14). Shortly after talking with investigators, Mr. Bailey was arrested.

Cadaver Dog Testimony

On the afternoon of August 23, 2012, investigators contacted Deputy Stephen Pearrow to search the residence with a cadaver dog. (R. p. 72).

The dog was a cadaver dog, not a scent sniffer or tracking dog (R. p. 142). The dog is trained to look for dead bodies. (R. p. 123). It is not trained to determine where dead bodies had previously been (R. p. 123). There is not even a certification for the type of search the cadaver dog was requested for. (R. p. 123). The dogs are certified to find human remains, not determine where dead bodies had previously been (R. p. 125). Further, no human remains were found. Whatever the dog alerted to, it was not human remains. (R. p. 126).

Deputy Pearrow works for the Richland County Sheriff's Department. (R. p. 90). He also operates a non-profit corporation called Search Tactics and Rescue Recovery (STARR). (R. p. 55). Part of his work with STARR involves assisting police dog handlers in the training and boarding of police dogs. (R. p. 57).

Deputy Pearrow was called to the scene for a single reason: to determine whether the decedent's dead body had previously been inside the residence. (R. pp 122, 123). He was not called to the scene to find a dead body. (R. p. 123). Deputy Pearrow brought with him a two year old Belgian Malinois named Mia. (R. pp 110, 112). Deputy Pearrow was not Mia's owner and he was not her handler. (R. p. 106). Mia's handler is a Lexington County Sheriff's Deputy Jamie Gunter. (R. p. 99). Mia is a single purpose cadaver dog. (R. p. 70). In other words, she is trained to find dead people or physical evidence of a dead person. (R. p. 125). She is not trained to find where a dead body previously had been. (R. p. 125). This is a very important distinction because the reason she was brought to the house was to determine whether a dead body had ever been inside the house. She is not trained to track living people. Mia's training involves hiding scent sources (usually decaying human tissue) and sending Mia to find the source. Once Mia finds the source, she will alert or give an indication. According to Deputy Pearrow, an alert includes a broad spectrum of dog behavior, including turning her head, turning her ears, and drooling. (R. p. 69).

The dog may have indicated, but nothing was found to determine what the dog was indicating to. (R p. 127). The dog never alerted to the laundry room. (R. p. 128). Even in the areas where the dog alerted, there was no trace or forensic evidence found that a dead body was ever there. (R. p. 426).

The dogs live with their one on one handler. (R. p. 128). Mia lived with Jamie Gunter (R. p. 128). When Deputy Pearrow brought Mia to the scene, it was only the fifth time she had been on an actual search, and Deputy Pearrow was not her handler. At the scene, Mia was taken inside and around the residence. According to Deputy Pearrow's

report at the time of the search, Mia alerted to two areas in the upstairs bedrooms of the house. (R. p. 853). In the report, she did not alert at all downstairs. (R. 854).

During the pretrial hearing on Defendant's motion to suppress, Deputy Pearrow testified she alerted to the original two places, but recalled an additional alert in a third upstairs bedroom which he did not include in his report. (R. p. 84).

In testimony before the jury, Deputy Pearrow increased the number of alerts again. This time, he recalled two additional alerts: an additional upstairs and now another alert downstairs. (R. pp. 851, 852). Before the jury was the first time Deputy Pearrow ever testified to any type of alert downstairs.

Despite the number of actual alerts, whether it was two or five, law enforcement thoroughly searched the areas. Not a single piece of actual physical evidence was found anywhere the dog alerted. Whatever Mia was "alerting" to, it was not evidence of a dead body. (R. p. 863).

Medical Examiner Testimony

On the following morning, August 24, 2012, an autopsy was performed on the decedent by Dr. Amy Durso with Professional Pathology Services. (R. pp. 608, 618). Dr. Durso is board certified in the fields of anatomic pathology, clinical pathology, and forensic pathology. (R. p. 609).

Dr. Durso performed a full autopsy on the decedent. Dr. Durso noted the decedent's hyoid bone, found in the larynx, was not broken. (R. p. 645). Dr. Durso collected toxicology samples on the decedent. (R. p. 645). Dr. Durso also sent the decedent for an x-ray of the head, neck, and chest. (R. p. 647). Upon Dr. Durso's review of the x-rays, she was able to confirm the hyoid bone was not broken. (R. pp. 647, 648).

Dr. Durso also noted there were no signs of trauma to the decedent. (R. pp. 677, 678).

Dr. Durso ultimately concluded the decedent died of asphyxia, either by strangulation, suffocation, or constriction of the chest area. (R. pp. 657, 658).

Under cross examination, Dr. Durso admitted there was no evidence of any asphyxia, either by strangulation, suffocation, or compression. (R. p. 708). There was no traumatic injury to the decedent's hard pallet, oral cavity, lips mandible, or any other hard or soft tissue to the decedent's mouth or neck. (R. p. 708, 709). There was no conjunctive petechia in the eyes, which is a condition that exists in 80% of asphyxia victims. (R. p. 720).

Mr. Moore: There is no way you can say based upon a reasonable degree of professional certainty that she was strangled. That's true, right?

Dr. Durso: That's true.

Mr. Moore: No way you can say based upon a reasonable degree of professional certainty she was suffocated.

Dr. Durso: That's true.

Mr. Moore: And no way you can say based upon a reasonable degree of professional certainty that she died because someone sat on her back or chest, correct?"

Dr. Durso: Yes.

Mr. Moore: The reason why you listed this as homicidal is because you suspected foul play.

Dr. Durso: Yes.

Mr. Moore: There was nothing you found wrong, so you suspected foul play, and that's what you wrote?

Dr. Durso: Yes.

(R. pp. 709-710).

Dr. Durso also admitted there was no other possible means of her findings were not based on the evidence, but rather a lack of evidence:

Mr. Moore: Does the fact that she was placed on the lawn simply mean that someone put her there, right?

Dr. Durso: Yes.

Mr. Moore: The fact that someone put her there doesn't mean that someone killed her, does it?

Dr. Durso: It's awfully suspicious, isn't it?

Mr. Moore: Yes ma'am but we don't convict people in this country on suspicion do we?

Dr. Durso: No.

Mr. Moore: And as you already told the jury, you reach your conclusions based upon suspicion, right?

Dr. Durso: Yes.

Mr. Moore: You wouldn't expect a jury to convict anybody based upon suspicion, would you?

Dr. Durso: No.

Mr. Moore: And your report, as you told us, is the result of a suspicion of foul play?

Dr. Durso: Yes.

Mr. Moore: Not upon any type of objective medical finding?

Dr. Durso: It's based on the effective lack of medical findings.

Mr. Moore: Basically, it's a lack of anything there, something not being there.

Dr. Durso: Right.

Mr. Moore: What you basically said is, "I can't find what killed her, so somebody must have done it"?

Dr. Durso: Like I said, 26 years olds don't drop dead for no reason.

Mr. Moore: But that's a conclusion. "I can't find anything wrong with her that would have killed her, so somebody must have done it," right?

Dr. Durso: Right.

Mr. Moore: That was basically the suspicion you had?

Dr. Durso: Right.

Mr. Moore: And as a result of your suspicion, a result of your suspicion and lack of medical proof, you issued a report that caused a young man to be arrested and prosecuted based on your suspicion?

Dr. Durso: Yes.

Mr. Moore: And that alone?

Dr. Durso: I see --

Mr. Moore: Because, as you told us, you can't go forward unless you say it's there, right?

Dr. Durso: I'm not the one who pushes these cases forward, sir.

(R. p. 732-733).

Testimony of Inmate Edward Walker

During the jury trial, an inmate from Kershaw County Detention Center was called to testify against Mr. Bailey. (R. p. 552). This inmate is Edward Walker. (R. p. 552). He was cellmates with Mr. Bailey at Alvin S. Glenn Detention Center. (R. p. 552).

At the time of trial, Mr. Walker had his own pending charges for murder, armed robbery, and attempted armed robbery stemming from a 2011 crime. (R. p. 552).

Mr. Walker testified Mr. Bailey gave him a jailhouse confession. (R. pp. 554-555). According to Mr. Walker, Mr. Bailey essentially admitted to killing the decedent but said it was unintentional. (R. p. 555).

Out of the presence of the jury, defense counsel was allowed to cross-examine Mr. Walker regarding his pending charges. (R. p. 587). Judge Hood admonished Mr. Walker he did not have to answer questions. (R. p. 587). After this admonishment, Mr. Walker invoked his right to remain silent to all further questions. (R. p. 587).

Character Testimony of Twyla Perkins and Jason Parker

During trial, a friend of the decedent named Twyla Perkins was called to testify against Mr. Bailey. (R. p. 592). During redirect, Ms. Perkins claimed Mr. Bailey was discharged from the Army under a bad conduct discharge. (Supp. R. p. 16). Defense counsel objected on the basis it was inappropriate character evidence, but was overruled. (Supp. R. p. 17).

Later in the trial, over defense counsel's objection, the trial court admitted the testimony of Army Captain Jason Parker. (R. p. 881). Cpt. Parker testified that Mr. Bailey had a number of mental issues following his return from Iraq, including a threat made to himself and other soldiers. (R. pp. 883-899). Cpt. Parker correctly testified Mr. Bailey was separated by a general discharge under honorable conditions for a pattern of misconduct. (R. p. 899)

ARGUMENT

I. **THE TRIAL COURT ABUSED ITS DISCRETION IN ADMITTING THE TESTIMONY OF THE CADAVER DOG HANDLER WHEN THERE WAS NO EVIDENCE TO CORROBORATE THE DOG'S ALERTS, THE HANDLER WAS NOT AN EXPERT, AND THE PROBATIVE VALUE OF THE TESTIMONY WAS OUTWEIGHED BY THE DANGER OF UNDUE PREJUDICE**

Standard of Review

In criminal cases, the appellate court sits to review errors of law only. *State v. Wilson*, 345 S.C. 1, 5-6, 545 S.E.2d 827, 829 (2001) (citing *State v. Cutter*, 261 S.C. 140, 199 S.E.2d 61 (1973)). *State v. Baccus*, 367 S.C. 41, 48, 625 S.E.2d 216, 220 (2006). The admission of evidence is within the sound discretion of the trial court and will not be reversed absent an abuse of discretion. *State v. McDonald*, 343 S.C. 319, 325, 540 S.E.2d 464, 467 (2000). To constitute an abuse of discretion, the conclusions of the trial court must lack evidentiary support or be controlled by an error of law. *State v. Pittman*, 373 S.C. 527, 570, 647 S.E.2d 144, 166-167 (2007).

A. **The trial court abused its discretion by admitting testimony of the non-expert cadaver dog handler because no evidence was found to corroborate the dog's "alerts."**

At trial, the Court admitted the testimony of Deputy Pearrow over Defense counsel's objection. Deputy Pearrow works for the Richland County Sheriff's Department. He also operates a non-profit corporation called STARR. Part of his work with STARR involves assisting police dog handlers in the training and boarding of police dogs.

Deputy Pearrow was called to the scene for a single reason: to determine whether the decedent's dead body had previously been inside the residence. He was not called to the scene to find a dead body. Deputy Pearrow brought with him a two year old Belgian

Malinois named Mia. Deputy Pearrow was not Mia's owner and he was not her handler. Mia's handler is a Lexington County Sheriff's Deputy, Jamie Gunter. Mia is a single purpose cadaver dog. In other words, she is trained to find dead people. She is not trained to find where a dead body previously had been. This is a very important distinction because the reason she was brought to the house was to determine whether a dead body had ever been inside the house. She is not trained to track living people. Mia's training involves hiding scent sources (usually decaying human tissue) and sending Mia to find the source. Once Mia finds the source, she will alert or give an indication. According to Deputy Pearrow, an alert includes a broad spectrum of dog behavior, including turning her head, turning her ears, and drooling.

When Deputy Pearrow brought Mia to the scene, it was only the fifth time she had been on an actual search, and Deputy Pearrow was not her handler. At the scene, Mia was taken inside and around the residence. According to Deputy Pearrow's report at the time of the search, Mia alerted to two areas in the upstairs bedrooms of the house. In the report, she did not alert at all downstairs.

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