ORIGINAL

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM RICHLAND COUNTY
Court of General Sessions
Robert E. Hood, Circuit Court Judge

RECEIVED

FEB 09 2015

SC Court of Appeals

The State,

Respondent,

v.

Marcus Bailey,

Appellant.

Appellate Case No. 2013-001680

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

JOHN W. MCINTOSH
Chief Deputy Attorney General

DONALD J. ZELENKA
Senior Assistant Deputy Attorney General

MELODY J. BROWN
Senior Assistant Attorney General
S.C. Bar No. 14244

Post Office Box 11549
Columbia, South Carolina 29211-1549
(803) 734-6305

DANIEL E. JOHNSON
Solicitor, Fifth Judicial Circuit
P.O. Box 192
Columbia, South Carolina 29202

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

... she was either strangled or she could have had her head placed in a pillow or had someone place pressure on her chest to the point where she couldn't breath and get oxygen to the brain, which is what we cause asphyxiation. That was her cause of death.

(R. p. 657, line 21-p. 658, line 1).

As to the classification for manner of death, Dr. Durso opined as "probable homicidal asphyxiation." (R. p. 659). The doctor did not look at the crime scene photos until after determination on cause of death. (R. p. 654; p. 660). Based on the condition of the body, the victim had been dead three to seven days before discovery. (R. p. 660). The physical findings also supported the victim's body had been stored inside at an air conditioned place then repositioned and placed outside before discovered. (R. pp. 662-667). Dr. Durso testified that she needed no further information to make the determination as to cause of death. (R. p. 794).

Dr. Bradley J. Marcus, also a forensic pathologist, concurred finding independently that victim died of "homicidal asphyxiation." (R. p. 927). Dr. Marcus likewise used the exclusion of other facts in determining a cause of death. (R. p. 925-927). He noted that the pathologist did not label the case a homicide. (R. p. 956).

In his motion for a directed verdict, Appellant argued not only that there was not direct evidence that Appellant was the one who killed the victim, but also that:

The evidence suggests today, as Dr. Bradley Marcus indicated, that she could have died by way of natural causes. The evidence also suggests that she could have died from a number of other things, but there has been no evidence that she actually died from the result of a homicide.

(Supp. p. 115, line 22 – p. 116, line 2).

Correctly reviewing the evidence in the light most favorable to the State, the trial judge denied the motion. (Supp. p. 119).

Discussion:

A defendant is only entitled to a directed verdict of acquittal if the State fails to offer proof of the offense charge, or its proof merely raises a suspicion of guilt. *State v. Odems*, 395 S.C. 582, 586, 720 S.E.2d 48, 50 (2011); *State v. Buckmon*, 347 S.C. 316, 321, 555 S.E.2d 402, 404 (2001).

When reviewing the trial judge's denial of a motion for a directed verdict, the appellate court will view the evidence in the light most favorable to the State. *Id.* See also *State v. Frazier*, 386 S.C. 526, 531, 689 S.E.2d 610, 613 (2010). "If there is any direct evidence or substantial circumstantial evidence reasonably tending to prove the guilt of the accused, the Court must find the case was properly submitted to the jury." *State v. Freiburger*, 366 S.C. 125, 136, 620 S.E.2d 737, 743 (2005). See also *State v. Weston*, 367 S.C. 279, 292, 625 S.E.2d 641, 648 (2006); *State v. Zeigler*, 364 S.C. 94, 102, 610 S.E.2d 859, 863 (Ct. App. 2005), *cert. denied* (Jan. 31, 2007). Conversely, "[t]he trial judge should grant a directed verdict when the evidence merely raises a suspicion that the accused is guilty." *Frazier*, 386 S.C. at 531, 689 S.E.2d at 613.

The rule in South Carolina is “an expert in forensic pathology’s opinion testimony as to cause and manner of death is admissible under Rule 702, SCRE, so long as the expert does not opine on the criminal defendant’s state of mind or guilt or testify on matters of law in such a way that the jury is not permitted to reach its own conclusion concerning the criminal defendant’s guilt or innocence.” *State v. Commander*, 396 S.C. 254, 269, 721 S.E.2d 413, 421 (2011). The medical examiner’s testimony in this case did not cross that line. Rather, based upon exclusion of other factors, the medical examiner determined the cause of death as homicidal asphyxiation. (R. p. 659). Appellant does not argue the opinion admitted here was improperly admitted; rather, he makes the argument the properly admitted opinion is insufficient to prove an unlawful killing by another. Yet, the State does not rely upon the opinion alone.

Murder cases have been proven on less evidence of cause of death. *See, for example, Brown v. State*, 307 S.C. 465, 415 S.E.2d 811 (1992) (body found but condition made determination of cause of death impossible); *State v. Howard*, 295 S.C. 462, 466, 369 S.E.2d 132, 134 (1988) (“The body was partially decomposed and the exact cause of death could not be determined.”). *See also State v. Saltz*, 346 S.C. 114, 137-138, 551 S.E.2d 240, 253 (2001) (“[C]ircumstantial evidence may be sufficient to establish the corpus delicti of murder even though the cause of death can not be determined.”). The Supreme Court of South Carolina has held “that the circumstantial evidence surrounding the victim’s sudden disappearance, considered with the unlikelihood of his voluntary departure as shown by his personal habits and relationships, was sufficient to establish the corpus delicti of murder or that the victim is dead by the criminal act of another.” *State v. Weston*, 367 S.C. at 293, 625 S.E.2d at 648, *citing State v. Owens*, 293 S.C. 161,

359 S.E.2d 275 (1987). *See also State v. Saltz*, 346 S.C. at 137-138, 551 S.E.2d at 253.

The State presented ample evidence of sudden, and complete, disappearance.

The victim had abruptly disappeared after August 16, 2012. She failed to contact close family and friends, (R. p. 466; p. 467; p. 470; pp. 484-485; p. 606), failed to meet her obligations to the ROTC program in which she had actively participated, (R. pp. 434-435; pp. 471-473), failed to participate in a graduate school program she had eagerly anticipated (R. pp. 488-492), and failed to borrow her neighbor's lawn mower as discussed, (R. pp. 468-470). She was not found, though, until August 23, 2012. (R. pp. 175-178; pp. 207-211). Medical findings support the death coincided with the sudden and complete disappearance – three to seven days before. (R. p. 660). Further, medical findings support the victim's body was kept in an air conditioned home and the body moved to the lawn right before discovery. (R. pp. 662-667). The cadaver dog alert in the home, (R. pp. 835-840), and detected an odor on the blanket found in the dryer which later tested to show blood consistent with the victim's DNA. (R. p. 848; Supp. pp. 85-87). The smell of air freshners in the home was overwhelming. (R. p. 168-169; Supp. pp. 91-93). Appellant's insistence that he saw the victim alive and well the day before her body was discovered is impossible based on the decomposition noted. (Rr. p. 794). Appellant's use of the victim's cards and home for his own personal benefit occurred during the same limited time frame. (R. pp. 474-479; Supp. pp. 2-5; Supp. pp. 50-55; Supp. pp. 56-74). Further, Appellant admitted the killing by strangulation to inmate Walker. (R. p. 553-554; p. 556). Appellant had previously expressed to a friend his desire to kill victim by suffocation and to avoid detection by various means. (R. pp. 480-482). Both methods involved cutting off the air supply. Capt. Parker testified that Appellant

received combat training, which included “takedown moves” and “submission chokes.” (R. p. 901, lines 1-24). Taken together, evidence was presented to support not only that there was a murder, but also that Appellant committed the murder. Appellant’s instant argument, which challenges only the medical examiner’s opinion, therefore, rests on incorrect manner of evaluation.

Even so, the fact that the defense could challenge the cause of death opinion as less sure than one resting upon a positive test result or disease confirmation does not eradicate the probative value. *See Saltz*, 346 S.C. at 138, 551 S.E.2d at 253 (rejecting defense argument on directed verdict based where arguments against finding the circumstantial evidence was sufficient “to establish the corpus delicti” of murder simply because the “facts are equally consistent with death by accident or sudden illness” as the evidence must be viewed “in the light most favorable to the State.”). Implicit in the argument, as well, is that Appellant fails to take the evidence in the light most favor to the State, which is required in evaluating the sufficiency of the evidence to submit the case to the jury. Further, Appellant essentially argues that in isolation the medical evidence does not definitively show a murder occurred. However, one does not isolate the evidence in evaluating circumstantial evidence. It is, in fact, the combining of the evidence, *i.e.* “substantial circumstantial evidence,” that presents the most powerful case for guilt. *See State v. Frazier*, 386 S.C. at 531-532, 689 S.E.2d 613 (reviewing circumstantial evidence of guilt: “This evidence, when viewed collectively, presented a jury question as to Frazier’s guilt.”) (emphasis added); *State v. Cherry*, 361 S.C. 588, 595, 606 S.E.2d 475, 478 (2004) (relying on “combination of factors” to find evidence “sufficient for the jury to infer an intent to distribute”); *State v. Grippon*, 327 S.C. 79, 83-

84, 489 S.E.2d 462, 464 (1997) (recommended charge includes the following explanation: “Circumstantial evidence is proof of *a chain of facts and circumstances* indicating the existence of a fact.”) (emphasis added). *Accord State v. Logan*, 405 S.C. 83, 97, 747 S.E.2d 444, 451 (2013) (“evaluation of circumstantial evidence requires jurors to find that the proponent of the evidence *has connected collateral facts* in order to prove the proposition propounded”) (emphasis added). Appellant’s argument runs contrary to these established legal principles.

But again, the State presented ample evidence of a sudden disappearance, contradictory statements from Appellant, difficulties between Appellant and victim including a threat to kill the victim, and decomposition sites in the home – which was chilled and had the overwhelming scent of air freshers, residential and commercial and innsense – and medical findings supporting the body was stored inside and repositioned outside shortly before discovery. In particular, Dr. Durso testified that Appellant’s assertion he had seen the victim the day before discovery of the body, alive and walking around, was “[n]ot at all consistent” and was, in fact “not possible.” (R. p. 794, lines 13-18). Appellant was not entitled to a directed verdict. Appellant’s argument to the contrary should be rejected.

III.

The trial judge did not abuse his discretion in restricting merely the portion of cross-examination when Appellant asked to question the witness about the factual basis of an unrelated crime which was the basis of a then pending charge, when the collateral information did not clearly bear on any fact of proper cross-examination and was protected by the witness' Fifth Amendment privilege. At any rate, any possible error would be harmless as Appellant was properly allowed to cross-examine the witness on the fact of the pending charges, his extensive criminal history as a whole, and his hope for leniency.

Appellant complains that trial judge erred in allowing Edward Walker to testify as to Appellant's admission of guilt where Mr. Walker asserted his Fifth Amendment Right on proffered cross-examination questions concerning Walker's guilt of a pending charge. Walker's guilt to an unrelated charge was collateral to the action. Appellant's right to cross-examination was not unfairly limited by disallowing inquiry in this purely collateral matter.

Relevant Facts:

Appellant and Edward Walker were incarcerated at Alvin S. Glenn Detention Center after Appellant's arrest on the instant charge. Mr. Walker's charges of murder and armed robbery were unrelated to the instant murder. (R. p. 151). Appellant and Mr. Walker were assigned the same dormitory in the Detention Center. (Supp. p. 90). Mr. Walker testified concerning an admission of guilt by Appellant while incarcerated. (See R. pp.553-554; p. 556.

Appellant moved in pre-trial to exclude Mr. Walker's testimony should Mr. Walker be allowed to "take the 5th Amendment" and decline to answer if he is guilty of the murder for which he is charged. (R. pp. 36, line 15 – 37, line 14). Mr. Walker was then represented by counsel, Mr. Sutherland, Esq. Mr. Sutherland indicated that his client should not be asked about culpability of the pending charge. (R. p. 143).

Appellant maintained his right to confrontation allowed the question, and specifically stated the questions would “go[] to the issue of credibility.” (R. p. 148, lines 2-3). The trial judge declined to either allow the question on culpability for unrelated charges or exclude the testimony:

Whether or not he is guilty or not guilty of the murder or the armed robbery doesn't have anything to do with it because it's not related to this case.

...

Because it's not related to his case, it doesn't have anything to do with interest, bias or impartiality of a witness.

(R. p. 151, lines 8-16).

The trial judge allowed questions on the possible length of sentence (life without parole), and on motivation for testifying such as seeking leniency. (R. p. 150).

Mr. Walker testified he was then currently incarcerated in the Dentention Center on pending charges of murder, attempted armed robbery and robbery. (R. p. 552). Mr. Walker testified Appellant stated that he cut his fingernails two days prior to the murder to avoid collection of DNA evidence, and that he did kill the victim, though he did not mean to kill the victim. (R. pp. 553-554). According to Mr. Walker, Appellant stated that he strangled the victim. (R. p. 556). Appellant stated the victim was wearing only a shirt when discovered. (R. p. 558). Appellant engaged in lengthy cross-examination, including questioning Mr. Walker concerning his desire for leniency. (R. p. 561-p. 580; pp. 583-584).

After Mr. Walker testified, Appellant made a proffer of the questions. (R. pp. 586-588). The trial judge again found the question impermissible, and noted the great

leniency given for proper examination concerning existing charges, possible sentencing, and desire for leniency. (R. pp588-589).

Discussion:

“The right to a meaningful cross-examination of an adverse witness is included in the defendant’s Sixth Amendment right to confront his accusers.” *State v. Aleksey*, 343 S.C. 20, 33, 538 S.E.2d 248, 255 (2000). Trial judges retain discretion to limit cross-examination of matters not directly relevant to the matter at hand. *Id.*, 343 S.C. at 34, 538 S.E.2d at 255, *quoting Delaware v. Van Arsdall*, 475 U.S. 673, 679, 106 S.Ct. 1431 (1986). “[T] Confrontation Clause ‘guarantees only an opportunity for effective cross-examination, not cross-examination that is effective in whatever way, and to whatever extent, the defense might wish.’” *State v. Stokes*, 381 S.C. 390, 402, 673 S.E.2d 434, 439 - 440 (2009), *quoting United States v. Owens*, 484 U.S. 554, 559, 108 S.Ct. 838 (1988).

“Questions on cross-examination are collateral if they relate solely to the witness’s credibility and bear no relation to the subject matter of the direct examination.” *State v. Hill*, 382 S.C. 360, 367, 675 S.E.2d 764, 768 (Ct.App. 2009) (*citing United States v. Cardillo*, 316 F.2d 606 (2nd Cir. 1963)). It is not an abuse of discretion to limit cross-examination on purely collateral issues. *Id.* A reviewing court “will not disturb a trial court’s ruling concerning the scope of cross-examination of a witness to test his or her credibility, or to show possible bias or self-interest in testifying, absent a manifest abuse of discretion.” *State v. Gracely*, 399 S.C. 363, 371, 731 S.E.2d 880, 884 (2012).

Here, Appellant admitted the matter was solely a matter of credibility. (See R. p. 310, lines 2-3). Thus, the trial judge did not abuse his discretion in limiting questions on same. *Hill, supra*. In short, Appellant was afforded ample opportunity to effectively

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